IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY WELCH,)
)
)
 Appellant,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Appellee.)
 _____)

CASE NUMBER SC06-698

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386) 252-3367
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises twenty-five consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first five volumes are numbered consecutively from one to 702. Volume six begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 2396 which concludes volume twenty-five. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume number followed the appropriate Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages.

In November, a supplemental record was filed with this Court. The supplemental record comprises four volumes numbered consecutively beginning with volume one. These page numbers are also numbered consecutively from one to 447. Counsel will refer to this portion of the record in the same way with the addition of

ASR@.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 1, 2001, the 2000 fall term grand jury returned an indictment charging Anthony Wayne Welch, the appellant, with two counts of first-degree premeditated murder, one count of robbery with a deadly weapon, one count of dealing in stolen property, and one count of grand theft. (I 151-53)

On December 22, 2000, following his arrest, Welch filed a notification of exercise of his constitutional rights. (I 116-117)

On January 26, 2004, appellant filed a motion to suppress physical evidence seized following his arrest. (II 251-255)

On June 9, 2004, the state and appellant filed a joint stipulation agreeing that the state of Florida would not offer appellant's statements obtained during his interview at the time of his arrest. This stipulation was based on a *Miranda* violation and did not address the voluntariness of the statement. Prosecutors agreed not to offer the statements at trial, unless appellant chose to testify. (II 270)

Appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme. *See, e.g.*, (II 275-80, 284-99, 300-388, 393-95; III 407-12, 418-60; XXIII 89-90) These motions challenged the constitutionality on a variety of grounds including *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002); the Fifth and Sixth Amendments as applied to the state by the Fourteenth Amendment; inadequate jury instructions; inadequate appellate review; and the admissibility of hearsay evidence at

the penalty phase. Prior to trial, the court granted appellant's motion in limine excluding evidence that Kyoko Johnson was murdered on her birthday. (III 546-47; VI 15-18) During her testimony, the victim's daughter-in-law mentioned that Kyoko was murdered on her birthday. (XVII 1341-42) Appellant moved for a mistrial, which the court ultimately denied. (XVII 1342-48) Additionally, the trial court overruled appellant's initial objection when the prosecutor mentioned in opening statements that Rufus Johnson had undergone heart bypass surgery. (XVI 1236-37) When a subsequent witness testified to this fact, the trial court sustained appellant's contemporaneous objection. (XVI 1292-93) The witness ultimately testified to that fact anyway. (XVI 1296)

Prior to trial, appellant filed a motion to suppress his statements to police officers made the night of his arrest. (III 494-95) Following a hearing, the trial court denied the motion. (III 525-33; SR II-IV)

During jury selection, the state exercised their first peremptory challenge on a woman. Appellant objected and requested a gender-neutral reason. The trial court ruled that a pattern of discrimination had not been established and did not require the prosecutor to state a reason. (XII 822-26)

During jury selection, the trial court denied several cause challenges requested by appellant. After exhausting all of his peremptory challenges, appellant requested more. The trial court allowed one additional peremptory challenge but denied any

additional requests. Appellant identified a jury who he would peremptorily challenge if allowed. (? XII 830-35; XIV 1044-48, 1052; XV 1206-14)

During trial, appellant objected to testimony that he had declined several offers of cocaine from his roommate in the months preceding the murders. Following a proffer, the trial court overruled the objection and allowed the testimony. (XVIII 1483-1503)

The trial court allowed the admission of several photographs over appellant's relevance objection. (XVII 1408-20; XVIII 1549-64; XIX 1599-613, 625-26; State's exhibits 8-12, 45-49, 61-71).

The trial court overruled appellant's objections (improper argument) when the prosecutor argued during closing that justice requires the imposition of the death penalty.

Over appellant's objection, the trial court instructed the jury as to the heightened premeditation aggravating factor. (XXIV 2164-78) Ultimately, the trial court rejected the applicability of this factor. (IV 671)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with unanimous recommendations that Andy Welch should die for each of the two murders. (IV 643-44)

On March 7, 2006, the trial court sentenced Welch to die for each of the two murders. (I 71-109; IV 666-88) The trial judge found three aggravating circumstances; (1) prior violent felony convictions (the contemporaneous convictions),

(2) during the commission of a robbery, and (3) especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

The trial court found three statutory mitigators applicable. These were:

- (1) Welch was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance;
- (2) Welch's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired;
- (3) Welch's age of twenty two coupled with his immaturity.

(IV 673-75) The trial court found a total of nine nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, giving most little weight and a few factors some weight. (IV 675-79)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on April 4, 2006. (IV 693) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Guilty Pleas

Appellant, Anthony Wayne Welch, pleaded guilty as charged to the two first-degree murders of Kyoko and Rufus Johnson, robbery with a deadly weapon, dealing in stolen property, and grand theft of a motor vehicle. (VII 70-85) Welch pled straight up to the outstanding charges without any consideration from the state. (VII 76-77) During the plea colloquy, Welch admitted that on December 14, 2000, he went to the Johnson residence with the intent to rob them. During the course of the robbery, he hit both victims, ultimately killing them. Using Rufus Johnson's truck, Welch took stolen property from the house to his apartment. He pawned some of that property the following day. (VII 81)

Welch's Confession

Although Welch initially denied any involvement to police, he ultimately confessed. (XX 1767-1844; State's Exhibit 81) After that, Welch consistently admitted his involvement in the deaths of Mr. and Mrs. Johnson. He was also consistent in his denial of remembering details of the events that night.¹ (XXIII 2043-44) His memory failure corroborated his admitted heavy use of alcohol and cocaine

¹ A psychological test indicated that appellant was not malingering in his memory impairment. In other words, his inability to remember the details of the murders was genuine. (XXIII 2063-66)

for the week preceding the murders. (XXIII 2044)

Appellant went to the Johnson household with an extortion note² intending to rob them. (XXIII 2044) Welch remembered³ the Johnsons sitting on the couch as he stood in front of them. After pacing for quite a while, Welch hit the Johnsons with a weapon until they fell to the floor and appeared to be dead. Welch did not remember exactly what type of weapon he used. Appellant remembered stealing a number of items from the household. (XXIII 2044) Appellant had very limited recollection of using a knife or a sword⁴, the blunt objects, any movement of the victims, any tying of wrists, and any use of duct tape. (XXIII 2044-45) Welch had no explanation of how Kyoko's body ended up in the bedroom while Rufus Johnson's body remained on the floor in the living room. Welch did remember covering Kyoko's mouth with duct tape to silence her praying. (XX 1767-1844; State's Exhibit 81)

² Welch remembered the note.

³ Prior to the murders, Welch had been drinking heavily and had consumed a large quantity of cocaine.

⁴ Welch did not bring a weapon to the house. He apparently armed himself with Rufus Johnson's golf putter and some type of knife from the house.

The Murders

Andy Welch and his family had previously lived next door to Kyoko and Rufus Johnson. The Welches moved to a different neighborhood several years before the murders.

At the time of the murders, Andy Welch, the appellant, was sharing an apartment with Heather Ann Bartczak and her boyfriend, Joie Estevez. Bartczak and Welch had signed a joint lease for the apartment at the beginning of October, 2000. In December Bartczak discovered that appellant had not paid his share of the rent in November. Late fees accumulated which Bartczak paid. (XVIII 1474-81)

The day before the murders, Andy Welch had gone to the Johnsons=home. He needed a ride because his own vehicle broke down. Andy Welch returned to the Johnsons=home the following day.⁵

Andy Welch went to the Johnson home unarmed. He had written a fraudulent Aransom@note in an attempt to extort \$5000 from the Johnsons. The note claimed that Andy's employer wanted Rufus Johnson dead. Andy proposed a scheme to avoid any bloodshed, but the Johnsons needed to give Andy the \$5,000. When the

⁵ The Johnsons=next door neighbor saw a young man who fit Welch's description in their driveway that morning. During his brief observation, he did not notice Welch to be under the influence. (XVI 1270-87)

Johnsons were not forthcoming with the money, Welch apparently Alost it@. He armed himself with Rufus's golf putter and beat the Johnsons to death. He recalled Rufus and Kyoko sitting on the couch as he stood in front of them. He remembered picking up some type of weapon, and hitting them several times until they fell to the floor and stopped moving. He did not recall cutting or stabbing the Johnsons. He also did not recall using a shoelace around Rufus's neck. He did recall placing a piece of duct tape over Kyoko's mouth so that he could not hear her praying. (XXIII 2044 ???)

Welch removed several appliances from the Johnson's household. They included two televisions, a microwave oven, and a boat motor. He transported the stolen property using Rufus Johnson's truck. He took some of the property to his apartment and also pawned some.

Welch was subsequently late for his date that night. He called his girlfriend several hours later and the two met at a Walmart in Melbourne. Welch explained that he been in a car accident. He appeared to be very pale and was trembling. (XVIII 1514-22) Other than that, Welch's girlfriend did not notice anything else unusual about his behavior. She did believe that he was under the influence of drugs or alcohol. (XVIII 1522-23)

The Johnsons=relatives last spoke to them on December 14, 2000. Kyoko's daughter-in-law, Nancy Johnson, spoke to her on the phone at approximately 6:00

p.m.⁶ (XVII 1339-42) When their relatives could not reach the Johnsons for several days, they drove from their home in central Florida to the home of Kyoko and Rufus Johnson. They found the front door unlocked, walked in, and discovered the bodies of the Johnsons. They called the police who processed the crime scene and subsequently arrested Anthony Welch.

The Autopsies

⁶ Nancy Johnson recalled that she last spoke to her on Kyoko's birthday. (XVII 1342)

Kyoko Johnson died as a result of multiple blunt and sharp force injuries and strangulation. (XVIII 1566-68, 1589) Bruises to her forearms, arms, hands, ankles, feet, and shins were consistent with blunt force injury caused by kicks or punches. (XVIII 1566) The bruises were consistent with defensive wounds. They could have been caused by hands or feet or any hard, heavy object. (XVIII 1572-73, 1578) Kyoko had one deep, gaping wound to her forehead that was consistent with being inflicted by a sharp blade. Fractures implied severe force with a sharp object.⁷ (XVIII 1568, 1581) Kyoko also suffered a gaping wound to the throat which cut through her windpipe⁸ (XVIII 1569-70); and four deeply sized wounds on her face. A severe metaforce would be required to inflict these wounds. (XVIII 1573-75) There was evidence that Kyoko had duct tape placed over her mouth prior to the attack. (XVIII 1588-89)

Rufus Johnson suffered two different types of wounds, incisive and gaping. (XIX 1629) His face, neck, and head exhibited multiple lacerations consistent with slashing by a sharp edged instrument. (XIX 1629, 1632-42) The autopsy also revealed two puncture wounds to the face consistent with stabbing by the point of a

⁷ The medical examiner opined that all of the wounds inflicted on Kyoko Johnson occurred while she was still alive. (XVIII 1568-69; XVIII 1575-80)

⁸ This wound was also consistent with being inflicted by a weapon with a sharp edge. (XVIII 1586-87)

knife. (XIX 1639-40) The gaping wounds on Rufus Johnson's face were consistent with a blunt heavy object and could have been inflicted by the golf putter kept in the home. (XIX 1629-30) Rufus Johnson's body also showed furrow marks on his wrists which were consistent with the application of a ligature. During the autopsy the doctor found a shoelace embedded in the neck area. (XIX 1630-32) The medical examiner opined that at least some of Rufus Johnson's wounds were consistent with defensive wounds. (XIX 1649)

The Stipulated Evidence

The trial court instructed the jury as to several stipulations. The handwritten ransom note recovered from Kyoko's body was written by Andy Welch and had 21 of his fingerprints on it. The police seized numerous items belonging to the Johnsons from Welch's apartment. The property included a microwave, a television, and a video cassette recorder. The police also seized clothing belonging to Welch that had traces of Rufus Johnson's blood. Police seized other stolen property from Welch's truck including several decorative oriental-style swords and a cordless phone. Clothing worn by Welch on the night of the murders had blood stains that were a statistical match for Rufus Johnson. A television and an outboard motor belonging to the Johnsons were pawned by Welch two days after the murder at a local shop. A golf club putter found in a retention pond near Welch's apartment contained weak chemical indications for the possible presence of blood on the putter's head. (XXI 1860-66)

The Crime Scene

A blood spatter expert investigated the scene of the murder the night the bodies were found. Rufus Johnson's body was found on the floor of the living room in front of the couch. The expert concluded that Rufus Johnson was sitting on the couch when at least one blow was inflicted. At some point Rufus either slid down or was pulled down from the couch to a prone position on the floor. Multiple, forceful blows were administered, while he was in the prone position on the floor. (XX 1690-98)

Kyoko Johnson's body was lying prone on the bed in the bedroom. Blood spatter evidence indicated that she remained in one position on the bed when she was beaten. (XX 1705-06) The expert opined that Kyoko was seated on the edge of the bed when some of her blood was shed. (XX 1707-9; 1712-13) An absence of blood led the blood spatter expert to believe that Kyoko's ankles might have been covered with duct tape while she bled. (XX 1709-10) However, a scientific test indicated an absence of any physical evidence that Kyoko's ankles were taped in any way. (XX 1717-19)

Evidence in Mitigation

Andy's early years

Andy Welch was born prematurely, which one doctor termed "significant." (XXIII 2038-39) Lorna Welch described her son as normal, although he tended to be accident-prone. Appellant consistently described his family environment as somewhat

emotionally detached. Welch made good grades in elementary school, despite a problem with attentiveness. (XXIII 2039-40) Andy also demonstrated artistic ability. (XXIV 2235)

Andy Develops Kawasaki Disease

At the age of six, Andy began to wake up crying in the middle of the night. He ran a high fever, which ultimately led to his hospitalization. After several weeks, a specialist diagnosed Kawasaki disease.⁹ Because of the unusual diagnosis, he was transferred to Shands Hospital in Gainesville, where he stayed for an additional three weeks. The recovery was a long arduous process. It was a full eight months following his discharge before Andy could walk again.¹⁰ (XXI 1868-72; XXIII 2038; XXIV 2259-66) Subsequent neuropsychological test results indicated brain impairment, which could have been caused by the disease. (XXIII 2038-39)

Kawasaki's disease can result in significant neurological complications that can result in brain injury. The experts believe that the disease causes inflammation of small arteries in the brain. As a result, there is significant likelihood in developing

⁹ Kawasaki's disease is a very rare condition that can affect the brain. (XXII 1968) Kawasaki's disease is characterized by a prolonged fever lasting four or five days at least. (XXII 1968) Other symptoms include coronary aneurysm and peeling skin. (XXII 1968)

¹⁰ Andy's concave chest never developed properly as a result of the illness. (XXI 1871)

neurological and behavioral problems. (XXII 1969-70) Dr. Wu concluded within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the brain damage revealed by the PET scan would result in impairment and the ability to regulate aggression and to exercise proper judgment. (XXII 1970-71)

Andy's Older Brother Commits Suicide

A second tragedy befell the Welch family when Andy was sixteen. Andy's beloved older brother, Ricky, committed suicide. Andy, his mother, and his sister came home from school one day to find that Ricky had hanged himself. Andy was the first to actually discover the tragedy. He unsuccessfully attempted to revive Ricky.¹¹ (XXIII 2040; XXIV 2266-70).

Ricky's suicide hit the Welch family hard. The family simply fell apart. (XXI 1873-77; XXIV 2219-21) Ricky's suicide even altered the family's eating habits. (XXIV 2272) Andy and his sister, Sandra¹² rebelled.¹³ (XXIII 2131; XXIV2229-31,

¹¹ The doctors diagnosed post traumatic stress disorder resulting from Ricky's suicide. (XXIII 2048-49)

¹² Sandra Welch remained damaged years later. At trial, she explained that she was prescribed medication for depression and anxiety. She was seeking a local therapist to continue treatment. (XXIV 2257-58)

¹³At the time of her testimony, Sandra was on two prescription medications for depression and anxiety. She was seeking a local therapist to continue treatment. (XXIV 2257-58)

2241-43) Andy and his sister began abusing drugs¹⁴ and alcohol. Andy's relationship with his parents went downhill.¹⁵ He changed from a talkative teenager to a very quiet one.¹⁶ (XXIV 2272) Andy refused to discuss the incident at all.¹⁷ (XXIII 2130; XXIV 2221-23) Andy did not care about school anymore, and began getting into fights.¹⁸ (XXI 1908-14; XXIV 2229-31, 2237-41) Formally a good student, Andy's grades dropped dramatically. He eventually dropped out and got his GED later. (XXIV 2273-75) For the next six years, he drifted aimlessly from one job to another. (XXIII 2042; XXIV 2235-36, 2257-58)

About six months before the murders, appellant joined the navy only to be administratively discharged one month later. The navy psychiatrist diagnosed Welch with depression and alcohol abuse. (XXIII 2042-43)

¹⁴ The drugs included cocaine, heroin, and hallucinates. (XXI 1890-92; XXIII 2041; XXIV 2233-34, 2243-47)

¹⁵ Andy's girlfriend of two years testified that his parents kicked him out of the house constantly. In high school, Andy intermittently lived with families other than his own. (XXI 1917-21)

¹⁶ A few years later, Andy's uncle hanged himself in his own mother's (Andy's grandmother) garage. Shortly thereafter, Andy's aunt followed her husband to the grave with her own suicide. (XXI 1878-79)

¹⁷ Sandra Welch, Andy's sister, described Andy's relationship with his brother, Ricky, as very close. They got along really well. (XXIV 2227)

¹⁸ The children at school teased and taunted Andy about Ricky's suicide. (XXI 1893; XXIV 2222)

Welch's Brain Damage

Appellant had a history of multiple head trauma. (XXII 1968) The trauma was caused, in part, by fights when Welch was younger. People with head injuries can be more prone to developing disassociative syndrom. (XXII 1967)

One fight led to a particularly brutal beating of Andy by another boy. The boy put Andy in a chokehold until Andy was unconscious. The boy then kicked Andy in the head at least four times. Andy remained unconscious for several minutes. After regaining consciousness, Andy seemed confused. The children never told their parents about the fight. As a result, Andy never received any medical treatment for his injuries. (XXIV 2231-33)

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