IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-698

ANTHONY WELCH

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT
BARBARA C. DAVIS
Fla. Bar No. 410519
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by allowing testimony that Welch refused cocaine from his roommates on numerous occasions. The testimony was relevant to Welch's claim he was under the influence of cocaine at the time of the murders and confession. Both mental health experts testified drug abuse exacerbates mental conditions. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point II</u>. The trial judge did not commit manifest error in denying a defense cause challenge on Juror Trevillion. The juror was not unduly biased toward the death penalty. Error, if any, was harmless because the judge gave defense counsel an additional peremptory challenge.

Point III. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in admitting Welch's confession in the penalty phase. Welch was given his Miranda rights. When Welch invoked his right to remain silent during the questioning, law enforcement officers immediately stopped questioning. Welch re-initiated contact with Agent Harrell by asking "What happens next." Welch then said he wanted to make a statement. The officers ensured Welch understood his Miranda rights still applied and that Welch was making the statement voluntarily. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point IV</u>. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in his evidentiary rulings regarding the birthday of Kyoko Johnson

and the fact Rufus Johnson was a cardiac patient. The witness' comment on Kyoko's birthday was inadvertent and did not require a mistrial. The comment regarding Rufus as a cardiac patient was an isolated reference among allowable testimony regarding the 24-inch leg scar from the surgery which was used to identify Rufus' remains. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point V</u>. The trial judge did not commit manifest error in ruling on the gender-neutral reason for peremptorily striking a female juror. Defense counsel did not allege that discrimination took place in the prosecutor's very first peremptory challenge. If *Melbourne* does not require a *prima facie* showing of a discriminatory purpose, this Court should revisit that case in order to be consistent with the vast majority of state and federal case law, including *Batson*. This issue is pending in two other cases before this Court.

<u>Point VI</u>. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in overruling an objection to the prosecutor's comment regarding "justice." The comment was appropriate under the circumstances and fair rebuttal to the defense argument. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point VII</u>. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion by instructing the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating circumstance where there was ample evidence of this aggravating factor. Error, if any, was harmless.

Point VIII. This claim is insufficiently specific to state a claim. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in admitting photographs. He examined each photo proffered and excluded those that were gruesome or duplicative. The photos were used by the medical examiner to describe the injuries and cause of death. The photos were relevant to the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel, which was hotly contested. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Point IX</u>. Considering the totality of circumstances, Welch's two sentences of death are proportional to other death-sentenced defendants. The trial court did not err in weighing mitigating circumstances.

<u>Point X.</u> Florida's death penalty statute is not unconstitutional per $Ring\ v.\ Arizona.$ Welch pled to robbery, establishing that aggravating circumstance.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING EVIDENCE WELCH DECLINED COCAINE OFFERED BY HIS ROOMMATES

Welch argues that evidence that Welch's roommates offered him cocaine but he declined it, is not relevant to any aggravating or mitigating circumstance. (Initial Brief at 26-27). He argues that there may be many reasons to decline an offer of cocaine. (Initial Brief at 28). Welch claims that:

The admission of the objectionable evidence had the effect of negating appellant's claim the he was on a week-long drug and alcohol bender at the time of the murders.

(Initial Brief at 29). In other words, the testimony was relevant to rebut mitigating evidence. Welch invokes Section 90.403 and argues the evidence was more prejudicial than probative. (Initial Brief at 29).

Last, Welch claims the State managed to exclude hearsay, elicited information that contradicted Welch's claims of cocaine

Before it was admitted, the State proffered the testimony of Heather Bartczak, Welch's roommate, that she and her boyfriend, Joie Estevez, had access to cocaine and used the drug. (V18, P1484-85). They offered drugs to Welch on "numerous occasions," but he was not interested. (V18, P1485). Bartczak knew "for sure he did not do cocaine." (V18, P1487). Defense counsel objected to the testimony on the basis of relevance. (V18, P1486, 1495). The prosecutor argued that, because Welch told police he used half an eight-ball of cocaine prior to the event, the testimony was relevant. (V18, P1495). The trial judge ruled that since the defense was presenting evidence of drug use, the testimony was relevant. (V18, P1497).

usage, and presented testimony of observations from persons who saw Welch near the time of the murders. (Initial Brief at 30). The prosecutor then supposedly "exacerbated" the problem in closing argument by arguing the evidence. (Initial Brief at 30-31).

It is not clear whether Welch is arguing error in admitting evidence rebutting drug usage, prosecutorial misconduct, or that the prosecutor presented adverse evidence. Welch argues that:

It is abundantly clear that the trial court erroneously allowed the jury to hearing objectionable evidence that tended to refute appellant's best mitigation, specifically that he was high on cocaine.

(Initial Brief at 32). Welch then states that impairment was a critical issue.

First, Welch did not object to testimony elicited by the prosecutor regarding Welch's lack of cocaine use. There was no objection to the testimony of Brian Manchester. (V21, P1927). There was no objection to the testimony of Robert Pruett that when he saw Welch the morning of the murders he did not appear impaired. (V16, P1282-83). There was no objection to the testimony of Lisa Hedley that Welch did not appear impaired when he met her at midnight the night of the murders nor did he take drugs when he was with her. (V18, P1523, 1529). The prosecutor's objection to "rumors" was well-taken. (V23, P2142). Hearsay is inadmissible, particularly hearsay based on speculation.

§90.802, Fla. Stat. There were no objections to the complained-of comments in closing argument. (V25, 2315, 2316, 2318, 2323, 2326, 2338). The arguments regarding testimony and argument is not preserved for appellate review since there were no objections.

Second, Heather's testimony was relevant to whether Welch was impaired by cocaine at the time of the murders. Relevance was the basis of the trial court's ruling. In opening statement, defense counsel argued:

He [Dr. Wu] will tell you that Mr. Welch's PET scan is consistent with bipolar disorder and post traumatic disorder and that the disorder is such that Andy can behave explosively and react out of all proportion to an event particularly under stress.

Both Doctor Riebsame and Doctor Wu will tell you that these conditions are made worse or exacerbated by stimulating drug use; cocaine being a stimulant drug.

(V16, P1265). In closing, defense counsel argued Welch was "loaded up on cocaine." (V25, P2348).

Welch told Dr. Riebsame he was drinking heavily and abusing cocaine the week before the murders. (V23, P2044). He told the law enforcement he was using cocaine the night he killed the Johnsons, "half an eight ball, about 120 bucks." (V20, P1804). Sandra Welch, defense witness and Appellant's sister, was called to testify about cocaine use. (V24, P2233, 2244-45). Dr. Riebsame testified that Welch began a "lifestyle" of alcohol and cocaine abuse at age 15. (V23, P2041). Dr.

Riebsame also testified that Welch was using cocaine before the murders. (V23, P2044). Dr. Riebsame referred to "cocaine abuse" and that Welch's alcohol and drug abuse made his mental problems worse. (V23, P2073-74). In Dr. Riebsame's opinion, Welch was under the influence of extreme mental disturbance and substantially impaired, the two statutory mental mitigators. (V23, P2075-76). These findings were based in part on the fact Dr. Riebsame believed Welch was intoxicated by alcohol and drugs and the time of the murders. (V23, P2076).

Evidence that Welch may not have been consuming cocaine before the murders was certainly admissible to rebut the mental mitigating circumstances. Relevant evidence is defined as "evidence tending to prove or disprove a material fact." §90.401 Fla. Stat. Relevance was the basis of the trial court ruling on Heather's testimony. (V18, P1497). Welch's arguments on appeal establish the relevance of evidence he may not have been impaired at the time of the murders since, as he argues, impairment was a critical issue. Welch placed his mental state in issue, making evidence of that mental state relevant. See Padilla v. State, 618 So. 2d 165, 169 (Fla. 1993).

Third, regarding the argument that the evidence was more prejudicial than probative, as Professor Ehrhardt states:

Most evidence that is admitted will be prejudicial or damaging to the party against whom it is offered.

C. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, §403.1 (2005 Edition). Section 403.1 precludes evidence that is "directed to an improper purpose," for instance, inflaming the jury or propensity. Id. There is nothing improper about the prosecutor presenting his case. The fact that the evidence is prejudicial to the defendant does not mean the evidence is not properly admitted. See Wournos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1007 (Fla. 1994)(all evidence of a crime prejudices the defense case); Amoros v. State, 531 So. 2d 1256, 1259 (Fla. 1988)("Almost all evidence introduced by the state in a criminal prosecution will be prejudicial to the defendant).

Error, if any, was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The evidence of the aggravating circumstances was overwhelming. Welch pled to robbery, establishing the during-a-robbery aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt. The murders were overwhelmingly heinous and atrocious. Welch presented the testimony of two mental health experts, compared to the lay testimony of Heather, who had multiple drug charges pending.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT MANIFEST ERROR BY DENYING A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE ON JUROR TREVILLION

Welch moved to strike Juror Trevillian for cause, and the motion was denied. (V9, P401; V12, P821). Juror Trevillian was

a squadron commander in charge of the 45th military unit. (V2, P334). He had authority over individuals pending court martial and judicial punishment. (V2, P335). He was in favor of the death penalty, but understood that a murder conviction does not in and of itself provide a basis for the death penalty. (V2, P336-37). His "gut feeling" was that he believed in the death penalty, but he "can go for life in prison. I'm not saying it would be a hard sell." (V2, P378). In his work, he cannot rush to judgment and makes sure he hears all the details and hears both sides of situations. (V2, P380). He stated his honest opinion as the attorneys asked, but he would comply with the law. (V2, P383). He would listen to the evidence and his personal feelings would not interfere with the process explained. (V2, P391).

Defense counsel's stated reason for the cause challenge was that he said Welch earned the death penalty by killing two people, that the victims' family needed closure, and that life in prison would be a hard sell. (V3, P401). Defense counsel also thought the juror said he could not put aside his personal opinions. (V3, P402).

The trial judge stated that:

I think the record is very clear even when Mr. Parker was asking questions his first comment was "I will follow the law. I can the follow law. I've done it in hard cases. I've struggled with other cases in personal life." In his position, employment position.

While I recognize that you didn't like some of his answers, Mr. McCarthy, based on his answers that he gave and his assurances to the Court that he would follow the law and will follow the law, I will deny your request for cause challenge at this time.

(V3, P403).

A trial court has great discretion when deciding whether to grant or deny a challenge for cause based on juror competency. Barnhill v. State, 834 So. 2d 836, 844 (Fla. 2002). This is because trial courts have a unique vantage point in their observation of jurors' voir dire responses. Therefore, this Court gives deference to a trial court's determination of a prospective juror's qualifications and will not overturn that determination absent manifest error. Hertz v. State, 803 So. 2d 629, 638 (Fla. 2001). Where a prospective juror is challenged for cause on the basis of his or her views on capital punishment, the standard that a trial court must apply in determining juror competency is whether those views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of a juror's duties in accordance with the court's instructions and the juror's oath. Id. (citing Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, (1985)). "In a death penalty case, a juror is only unqualified based on his or her views on capital punishment, if he or she expresses an unyielding conviction and rigidity toward the death penalty." Barnhill, 834 So. 2d at 844.

Florida Statute Section 913.03 provides:

Grounds for challenge to individual jurors for cause.

A challenge for cause to an individual juror may be made only on the following grounds:

- (1) The juror does not have the qualifications required by law;
- (2) The juror is of unsound mind or has a bodily defect that renders him or her incapable of performing the duties of a juror, except that, in a civil action, deafness or hearing impairment shall not be the sole basis of a challenge for cause of an individual juror;
- (3) The juror has conscientious beliefs that would preclude him or her from finding the defendant guilty;
- (4) The juror served on the grand jury that found the indictment or on a coroner's jury that inquired into the death of a person whose death is the subject of the indictment or information;
- (5) The juror served on a jury formerly sworn to try the defendant for the same offense;
- (6) The juror served on a jury that tried another person for the offense charged in the indictment, information, or affidavit;
- (7) The juror served as a juror in a civil action brought against the defendant for the act charged as an offense;
- (8) The juror is an adverse party to the defendant in a civil action, or has complained against or been accused by the defendant in a criminal prosecution;
- (9) The juror is related by blood or marriage within the third degree to the defendant, the attorneys of either party, the person alleged to be injured by the offense charged, or the person on whose complaint the prosecution was instituted;
- (10) The juror has a state of mind regarding the defendant, the case, the person alleged to have been injured by the offense charged, or the person on whose complaint the prosecution was instituted that will

prevent the juror from acting with impartiality, but the formation of an opinion or impression regarding the guilt or innocence of the defendant shall not be a sufficient ground for challenge to a juror if he or she declares and the court determines that he or she can render an impartial verdict according to the evidence;

- (11) The juror was a witness for the state or the defendant at the preliminary hearing or before the grand jury or is to be a witness for either party at the trial;
- (12) The juror is a surety on defendant's bail bond in the case.

Juror Trevillian did not meet any of the criteria to be stricken for cause. His answers were honest and straightforward. He showed no undue bias toward the death penalty. The trial judge correctly assessed the juror's responses. The mere fact that a juror gives equivocal responses does not disqualify that juror for service. "In evaluating a juror's qualifications, the trial judge should evaluate all of the questions and answers posed to or received from the juror." Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 373 (Fla. 1994).

If the trial judge erred, the error was harmless. After Welch moved to strike Juror Trevillian for cause, and the motion was denied, he requested an additional peremptory challenge and identified Juror Fontaine as a juror he would strike. (V14, P1044). The trial judge initially denied the additional peremptory. (V14, P1046). However, after defense counsel renewed the request for an additional peremptory challenge, the request

was granted. (V15, P1208-09). Defense counsel then struck Juror Fontaine. (V15, P1209).

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